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Ebert's prominence outside Social Democracy emerged over a long time.  During 1915 he had infrequently participated in discussions with the government.  Generally, the caucus chairmen Scheidemann, Molkenbuhr and Haase were invited.  Occasionally, the other caucus executive members or the party chairmen received an invitation, or acted as substitutes.  Scheidemann remarked in his memoirs that Ebert became jealous when not invited and he asked the officials to include him.  He added: "Jedes Mitglied der Sozialdemokratischen Partei kannte ihn... Über den Rahmen der Sozialdemokratischen Partei hinaus wurde jedoch Ebert erst im Laufe des Krieges... bekannt."
  Scheidemann's accurate comment poses the question of how Ebert attained national prominence.


Ebert knew the value of access to knowledge and of sitting in the right places.  He wanted to be privy to the information made available, for example, in the chancellor's consultations with the party leaders through the so-called "senior committee" of the Reich​stag.  When he had asked to be made a member of that committee in December 1915 Ebert emphasized: "daß Senioren-konvent die Geschäfte regele.  Deshalb müßten zunächst die Mitglieder des Vorstandes darin vertreten sein.  Hoch und er hatten davon keinen Gebrauch gemacht, aber oftmals den Mangel an zureichender Information beklagt."
  Ebert's attained a seat in January 1916.  In addition, after he replaced Haase as one of the caucus chairmen, Ebert regularly attended the sessions with the chancellor or his representatives.  Through being a caucus chairman, a member of the "senior committee" and on the budget committee Ebert came into frequent contact with the state secretaries and the heads of the other political parties. In the other Reichstag committees on which he served--Preisprüfungsstelle, Ernahrungskommission, Kriegsausschuß--he consolidated contacts to military and administrative personnel.
  


The budget committee and Reichstag sessions show how slowly Ebert emerged to take a leading role.  In 1916 he mostly spoke on foodstuffs and wages.
  Scheidemann, David, Hoch, Noske and Stücklen frequently presented the party's standpoint, partly reflecting the caucus' speaking assignments.
  Only infrequently, and then reluctantly, had Ebert taken on the major speaking assignments.  David remembered in 1918: "Er selbst scheut die große öffentliche Rede und ist sich seiner Enge bewußt.  Ich habe ihn fast mit Gewalt zu Haases Zeiten dazu drängen müssen, hervorzutreten und Haase das Monopol der öffentlichen Vertretung der Partei zu nehmen."


Wherever Ebert did participate he demonstrated his usual hard work and ability to gather pertinent information.  The appreciation of Ebert by non-socialist leaders lay in the discovery that he was very patriotic, lacked dogmatism and yet maintained a certain dignity and idealism in defending social and political reform.  For instance, Richard Merton, head of a large metallurgical firm and a member in Groener's war depart​ment, met Ebert during late 1916:  "Ebert fiel mir sofort als eine sehr sympathische Persönlichkeit auf.  Soweit ich ihm damals beurteilen konnte.... war er alles andere als ein doktrinärer Sozialist; er war sicher ein wahrer Vertreter der Interessen der Arbeiterschaft, ist aber auch immer seinem deutschen Vaterland bewußt gewesen..."
  A few months earlier a secret report by a government official had seen in Ebert "eines beideren und humorvollen Mann von unzweifelhaftem Rechtlichkeitsgefühl, der den Gewerkschaften nahe steht..."
  


One of the officials responsible for labor questions in the Prussian War Ministry, Richard Sichler, remembered under oath that Ebert brought complaints to him about workers who had been    threatened with being returned to the trenches if they did not accept wage cuts.  Ebert accepted Sichler's explanations and they agreed about on handling manpower allocations.  "Ebert verließ mich damals mit der Erklärung, daß er etwaige künftige Klagen bzw. das betreffende Material mir zur Untersuchung und Veranlassung des weiteren zukommen lassen würde."
  Sichler emphasized that they only dealt with cases in which wages were at issue and never spoke about political strikes.  He attested Ebert's personal commitment to the war cause, because when a deputy raised the question whether Ebert's second son could not be taken out of the front lines the deputy wanted to make certain Ebert did not know about it, because he knew Ebert would be angered at the deputy for seeking privileges.  Further: "Aus allen meinen Gesprächen mit dem Abgeordenten Ebert habe ich unzweideutig den Eindruck gewonnen, daß der Abgeordnete Ebert die Landesverteidigung unseres Vaterlandes ganz besonders am Herzen lag."  Groener, who had frequently been in contact with Ebert about economic questions, wrote his wife in March 1919:  "er ist persönlich [ein] durchaus ehrenwerter anstandig denkender Mann und als solcher schon im früheren Reichstag von allen Parteien geachtet worden."


Ebert garnered this respect while Scheidemann held public attention.  Between 1913 and 1916 Philipp Scheidemann alongside Haase publicly represented Social Democracy.  After Bebel's death Scheidemann had joined the caucus executive as well as being on the national executive since 1911.  He acted as the main spokesman in the Reichstag.  Unlike Ebert, Scheidemann had no reservations about stepping onto public tribunals.  His rhetorical florishes complemented Ebert's calculated caution. Scheidemann in 1916 remained the personalized embodiment of German Social Democracy, reflected in the publicized term "Scheidemann-Peace" and in his more extensive contacts to government and non-socialist leaders.  This superb public speaker and agitator had become, since joining the executive, Ebert's close friend and then his competitor.  Together they sat in the main institutions of the party, together they undertook agitation tours to their neigbouring Reichstag constituencies, together they walked and talked, and took tours to mountain climb or to hike.  For seven years their private and party lives intertwined.  This partnership and friendship contained increasing tensions.


Even before both became co-chairmen of the SPD in the fall of 1917 the competition and personality differences between Ebert and Scheidemann became known.  The egoism of both could not withstand the pressures of competition for posts.  In his 'secret diary' Scheidemann released his venom and revealed as much about himself as Ebert.  A few samples from this problematic source: on May 18, 1915 he commented: "Der Streber benahm sich wieder einmal so, wie er von Natur ist: Begabung eines Feldwebels, Selbstbewußtsein als sei er ein Hindenburg."
  On December 21, 1915 Scheidemann wrote about his trip to the Haag with Ebert and that his being recognized made it easier to travel, which "verärgerte aber Ebert, der es nicht versteht, daß man nicht auch ihn erkennt."  On June 6, 1916, when Ebert evidently manoeuvred him out of a major speech, Schediemann complained "hat der kleine Napoleon Ebert es fertig gebracht, daß ich bei dieser bedeutsamen Angelegenheit kaltgehalten bin. Der Mensch erträgt meinen Ruhm einfach nicht, ich lache darüber."  In 1916, when Ebert asked Stampfer to take the job of chief editor of Vorwärts, Stampfer observed that the relations between the two men were no longer smooth: "Eines Tages trat Ebert im Reichstag an mich heran und fragte mich, ob ich unter Umstanden die Redaktion des Vorwärts übernehmen wollte.  Ich erklärte mich zur mitarbeit bereit, schlug aber Scheidemann als Chefredakteur vor.  Scheidemann stand damals im Zenith seines Ansehens, und für das Blatt wäre es sicher ein Vorteil gewesen, ihm zum Chefredakteur zu haben.  Ebert lehnte brusk ab--ich merkte da zum erstenmal, daß zwischen den beiden etwas nicht stimmte--und bestand darauf, daß ich die Chefredaktion übernehmen müßte."
  


Scheidemann did not have the staying power and patience to deal with the responsibilities of leadership.  He capabilities ran more to public gestures, caustic phrases and attacks on opponents. Ebert operated as the tactician who dealt in the realities of power, judging who and what groups were important.  Scheidemann's assertiveness and speaking abilities aided the SPD in its role as attacker, but not when it came to compromise.  Thus, while the SPD remained an opposition party the two men complemented each other in style and in representing the party.


The two personalities reflected the dual stance of the party during wartime: Scheidemann, the flamboyant, emotional and assertive crier for peace and change reflected the continued role of a party in opposition.  Ebert, the responsible, cautious and tactical expert pushing for alliances and rearrangements reflected the potential ally of the state and other parties.
  Quite rightly Scheidemann's name became attached to a peace programme and Ebert's became identified within the party with the executive. Scheidemann may have been widely known to the German public and attacked by the Right with the slogan of a supposedly-defeatist 'Scheidemann Peace', but Ebert became of interest to German politicians and officials since SPD actions primarily followed his direction.  


Supporting Stampfer's view that in 1916 Scheidemann attained his zenith is an internal report of the police on labour politics from December 1, 1916.  The police knew that in July and August 1916 the SPD executive had begun a campaign for peace and reforms to take wind out of the party opposition's sails.   Müller, Braun, Ebert and Scheidemann  spoke in the big cities to counter the influence of the Haase-Dittmann-Ledebour group.  The executive's efforts were described as follows by the police: "Scheidemann fährt mit seiner Friedens-propaganda fort unbeirrt, aber nicht unbeeinflußt von den gegen ihn gerichteten Angriffen rechtsstehender und linksradikaler Blätter... Scheidemann selbst hat am Bußtag in Görlitz eine Rede gehalten, in der er den Vorwurf, er spiele sich als Vertrauensmann des Kanzlers auf, als unwahr bezeichnet... Kurz darauf sprach Scheidemann in Hamburg, wo er u. a. sagte, nicht nur die äußerste Rechte, sondern auch die äußerste Linke erschwere den Frieden..."
  Such claims reinforced the middle position in German politics that the SPD executive sought to stake out for the party, in addition to proclaiming itself the party of peace and social justice.  


That Scheidemann's efforts, but not those of his colleagues, received notice in this police analysis reflected how much the public image of the party had become identified with him.  A few months earlier the government had consulted with the Catholic, liberal and conservative parties about how to handle a particular Reichstag discussion.  Regardless whether the speaker represented the state, the Progressives, the Catholics or the conservatives, all used the term "Scheidemann-Gruppe" to identify the SPD.
 


If the police and informed politicians saw Scheidemann as the leading light of German Social Democracy during 1916, what about the public?  One swallow does not make a spring, but it reflects the weather:  A careful diarist reflected common sentiments when he noted how the marines about him thought the unending war should be resolved: "Make Liebknecht Minister of War and Scheidemann Chancellor."
 


During most of the war Ebert lived in Scheidemann's shadow.  As a sensitive and vain person he undoubtedly resented that, but he also utilized it as a cover and protection for himself and his approach to power.  Scheidemann had to bear public criticism and Ebert shrewdly allowed him to face the attacks which came with the glare of publicity, for example, Zetkin's wrath in control commission discussions about his phrase "Durchhalten."
  Only occasionally did Ebert's name reach a wider public.  One instance was after his July 1917 budget committee speech: "Eberts Ernte.  Unter dieser Überschrift leistet sich der Tägliche Anzeiger die Wiedergabe eines Wolff-Telegrams, in dem die New York Times über die Bedeutung der innerpolitischen Krise in Deutschland triumphiert.  Das amerikanische Hetzblatt beschäftigt mit einer Rede Eberts im [Haupt-]Ausschuß, in der Ebert ausführte: die deutsche Regieung könne den Frieden haben, sie brauche nur ein Friedensangebot ohne Angliederung und Entschädigung zu machen... Diese Anschauung Eberts nennt die New York Times Illusionen eines Mannes 'der in einem anderen Jahrhundert lebt.' 'Die Traume und ehrgeizigen Pläne des Imperialismus müssen aufgeben werden...'"
 The international acknowledgement remained an exception which the party opposition publicized as a critique in his constituency. In January 1918 Ebert noted in his diary that he was being considered as a contact by Entente middlemen "--mich anstatt Scheidemann, weil ich nicht so im Verdacht der Regierungs-freundlichkeit stehe, auch nicht so sehr festgelegt."


A comparison might aid in demonstrating Ebert's emergence from Scheidemann's shadow.  In June 1916 when the chancellor's advisor, Riezler, wanted to influence the public stance of the SPD he turned to Scheidemann; earlier it had been Südekum or David.
 In August 1917 he consulted Ebert.
   And to jump further ahead to complete the comparison: when Prince Max von Baden arrived in Berlin to take up the post of chancellor on October 2, 1918 he met alone with Ebert before seeing any other party leaders.  The meeting demonstrated the pre-eminence Ebert had achieved over Scheidemann. How Ebert attained it, means looking at the behind the scenes of political manoeuvring, in particular of the inter-party caucus.


Ebert operated cautiously in new situations.  Typical for his approach: the scene on July 14, 1917, when the party leaders met for the first time with Ludendorff, Hindenburg and the new chancellor, Michaelis.  Scheidemann immediately had a private exchange with Michaelis.  Ebert merely listened while the chancellor and military leaders proclaimed their adherence to the peace resolution's contents.
 By contrast, in the familiar environs of the party, the budget committee or the inter-party caucus, Ebert stood his ground or threw himself into the fray.  For instance, on July 15 he convincingly argued that the National Liberals should be excluded from the inter-party caucus because of their refusal to adhere to the Peace Resolution.
  Similarly, in negotiations on how to make parliament's influence felt and how to proceed on the parties' common aims, Ebert shared the leadership with David and Scheide​mann.
  On July 19 when the SPD executive defended its policies to gain caucus approval before the chancellor's statement on the Peace Resolution, Ebert made the decisive appeal by referring to his conversation with Michaelis on July 18:  "Nach allen diesen Besprechungen sowohl mit der Regierung und der Heeresleitung wie mit den bürgerlichen Parteien und aufgrund der Resolution glauben wir mit gutem Gewissen der Fraktion empfehlen zu können, die Kredite weiter zu bewilligen."
 


In using his authority within the party and establishing himself in a wider context Ebert did not always made good judgements about the nature of the regime he supported.  When the Peace Resolution came before the Reichstag and passed with a large majority, the chancellor took an ambivalent stance which hid his actual opposition.  David noted in his diary:  "Halt sein Wort bis auf die nachtraglich eingesch​muggelte Wendung 'so wie ich sie auffasse.'(!) Wir fressen es, um nicht noch alles zu verderben."
 Ebert would have been among those who had to swallow hard because he had defended Michaelis to the caucus.
  The SPD leaders took no action and missed an opportunity to insist upon clarity. 


Another incident showed the same inability to assess the larger situation.  At the caucus meeting on July 20, 1917, where the chancellor's twisting away from the Peace Resolution went unmentioned, Ebert let it be known that Helfferich had invited the caucus leaders to a gathering with the Kaiser.  Given that before 1914 meetings by Social Democrats with the monarch were a taboo, it is surprising that no one opposed Social Democracy's first official encounter with Wilhelm II.  Molkenbuhr, who attended along with Ebert, Scheide​mann, David and Südekum, noted the shallowness and ignorance of the "all highest", who chatted in an over-friendly manner and "plauderte über Stockholm and rühmt, daß wir die Deutschen gut herausgepauckt haben."
  Ebert appeared shocked at the Kaiser's silliness and war mongering.
  


What the leading Social Democrats did not draw out of Michaelis' squirming away from an honest commitment and the Kaiser's irres​ponsible nature involved the military's duplicity. David's partial insight, "Michaelis der Favorit Ludendorff.  Dieser aus anderen und annexionistischen Gründen handelnd," led to no action.
  Ebert and his executive colleagues repeatedly utilized their authority in the party to gain approval for co-operation with the state without any significant quid pro quo.


Patriotism remained Ebert's and the Social Democrats' blinder, the trait which made them so acceptable to the non-socialists.  Ebert demonstrated that trait with respect to political unrest among the marines.  After the government had succeeded in having the war credits passed on July 20 many Reichstag deputies, including Ebert, took short holidays.  By August 9, 1917, when he returned to Berlin, the unrest of the early summer had been investigated.  As a result the marine and naval leadership berated the distribution of leaflets advocating disobedience and of petitions favoring a peace action by the USPD in Stockholm.  The state secretary for the marines met with the SPD to check their attitudes and knowledge.  Ebert alone appeared since David and Scheidemann were still holidaying.  Capelle read part of the investigation results and attempted to implicate Stücklen, a SPD Reichstag representative, while laying ultimate responsibility at the doorstep of the Independents.  Capelle thought SPD opposition to the unrest and to the USPD would have "am meisten Wirkung auf die Arbeiter und auf das Militärpersonal."
  He asked Ebert to declare the Stockholm action "Unsinn."  Further, the SPD press should campaign against any unrest.  Ebert responded by expressing interest in the accusations against Stücklen, for although he thought that Stücklen could not have been involved, Stücklen processed all complaints from the armed forces for the party.  Despite sympathies with the USPD regarding war credits, Stücklen remained a "sworn opponent" of them. If Stücklen had been involved, Ebert guaranteed that he would be removed from his post.  As to the USPD leaders, Ebert insisted adamantly that they had not participated.  He thought the leaflets were the work of "rabid local" types in Kiel. The material was not in Haase's or Ledebour's style.  He assured Capelle that unlike in Kiel, no "wild" SPD leaders existed in Wihelmshaven.  He personally had good contacts with the vice-mayor from whom he had heard nothing for weeks.  Ebert termed the leaflets a "Vaterlandsverrat," but insisted Haase and Ledebour would not have been participants, despite "their cleverness".  In general, Ebert agreed to co-operate in opposing the unrest.  He added that the Social Democrats would send a representative to Stockholm who would prevent any exaggerations of the events.  Ebert wanted to be informed of any planned publicity four or five days in advance, "Dann wurde er ein geheimes Rundschreiben an die samtlichen Chefredakteure der rechtsstehenden social-demokra​tischen Zeitungen veranlaßen, damit sie auf das schroffste gegen das Vorkommene Stellung nahmen."  Ebert added that he wanted the budget committee to meet so all the parties could distance themselves from the unrest, and so "daß das Ausland sich nicht falsche Ideen über die Demoralisierung von Heer und Flotte in Deutschland hingeben könne."  When Capelle proposed that passports for Stocklholm be denied to the Independents Ebert strongly rejected the move since, in his opinion, that would only aid them to become martyrs.  


The patriotism which led Ebert to co-operate so willingly with the military also applied to his relations to the foreign office.  The proposal for a SPD person in Stockholm, which that office suggested to Ebert on August 15, 1917, he followed.  Hermann Müller duly went there and reported to Ebert each week.


Little critical reserve vis a vis the German state remained as SPD patriotic outbursts attacked the Entente countries.  For example, on August 15, 1917 Ebert published an article, "Der Kampf gegen Stockholm," in Vorwärts.  He refused to distance himself from the Stockholm peace effort as Capelle had wanted, though he pointed an accusing finger at the denial of passports to the British and French socialists by their governments.  He questioned the democratic nature of the Entente governments, including that of Wilson who had rejected the socialist peace conference:  "Wo bleibt nun Demokratie und Selbstbestimmungsrecht der Völker?"  The Entente socialists had adapted themselves to the war policies of their government.  His conclusion attacked the latter’s responses to the Stockholm Memorandum and the Peace Resolution:  "Die Niederwerfung Deutschlands ist allein das Gesetz des Handelns... Wir müssen weiter alle Krafte einsetzen zur Verteidigung unseres Rechtes auf unser Dasein!"  He suggested that the Entente socialists should consider "die Reiseerlaubnis zu erzwingen."  Ebert underscored the patriotic framework of his thinking when he mentioned that at Stockholm some socialists had advocated making those governments which had been responsible for "Gewalttätigkeiten" at the beginning of the war, pay for them, and then rhetorically added:  "Was soll--so fragen wir--mit den Regierungen geschehen, die jetzt jede Verständigungs-möglichkeiten zur Abkurzung des Krieges gewaltsam unterbinden?"  Ebert congratulated the Russian workers' and soldiers' councils for their positive contributions at Stockholm and hinted that the Germans were prepared to consider a conference with them alone, namely, aimed at a separate peace.  Through his articles on Stockholm and his contacts with military and diplomatic leaders, Ebert's reliability in the eyes of state officials could only have been reinforced.
  Capelle, for instance, had happily reported Ebert's preparedness to "make a common front against unrest."


If patriotism helped bind Ebert to the war effort and distanced him from the Entente socialists, it did not inhibit his desire for peace or parliamentarization.  The trust he built up among state secretaries and bourgeois party leaders occurred slowly and Ebert may have gained respect precisely because he tried to maintain his own political course as can be seen by following him through the vortex of meetings and events.


Ebert's and his party's co-operation had its bounds. This became evident when the papacy appealed during early August to the leaders of the war-waging peoples.  In the papacy's proposed peace settlement through international arbitration, mutual rejection of reparations and return of all captured territories including colonies, Ebert happily found a "Tat, die befriedigt."
  Erzberger, hoping that the papal action provided a means by which to pin Michaelis to the Peace Resolution, called together the inter-party caucus.  


Leaders of this group assumed that parliament had actually attained the right of prior consult​ation through the change in chancellors.  They had yet to learn the new reality and Michaelis proved incapable of hiding it.  Michaelis simply lacked the subtlety to co-ordinate a system in which the government was allotted the role of appearing to lead, but in which the military made the main decisions.  On August 20 the inter-party caucus gathered and fumbled with the parties' role in cabinet-building and foreign negotiations.  The leaders worried that the chancellor intended to speak but had not consulted them on the papal note.  Haußmann, among others, insisted that the whole question turned on "parliamentarization" by which he meant the influence of the parties, especially in the choice of state secretaries.
  Ebert silently listened to the circuitous debate, then stated his displeasure:

Wenn wir im Ausland Vertrauen gewinnen wollen, so müssen wir zeigen, daß das Parlament entscheidenen Einfluß hat... Der Kanzler darf dann also nicht reden.  Parla-mentarisierung und dann einsetzung eines Ausschusses.

By parliamentarization Ebert meant that the parties should influence the choice of ministers and a parliamentary committee should formulate the answer to the papal note with the chancellor.  Ebert had touched upon the core of the matter in speaking of the need for parliament to attain "decisive influence".  Indeed, the budget committee debates indicate that the SPD and bourgeois parties thought this influence already existed and that in the inter-party caucus they were only resolving the form of it.
  The next weeks proved the opposite.


Michaelis sought by promises and vagueness to avoid any direct commitment.  At a meeting with the party leaders on August 21, 1917, he tried to explain away his "interpretation" of the Peace Resolution.  He insisted that he would speak to the papal note despite Ebert and others advising delay in order to consult with the inter-party caucus.  In the later inter-party discussion Ebert made known his distrust of Michaelis because of the latter's "interpretation" and his present "laviern", while Payer excused Michaelis' distancing himself from the Reichstag position.  All agreed that Michaelis should clarify his stance, in addition to which the influence of the parliamentarians had to be made visible to gain credence internally and abroad.  The party leaders offered little insight on how this might be achieved.  At the second session during the same day Ebert at least made a specific suggestion:  dividing the interior ministry and creating a new labor office "für große sozialpolitische Aufgaben."
  Others supported the proposal and a discussion began on the necessary changes of personnel.  In this regard some recognized:  "Die jetzige Zusammensetzung der neuen Regierung ist ein Hohn und ein Schlag ins Gesicht des Reichstags," while others still thought they needed the aid of men like Helfferich to manage affairs.  Ebert had been approached by Riezler a month previously about Helfferich.  Riezler, the former intimate of Bethmann Hollweg, had argued that a "rücksichtsloses Eintreten nur von Helfferich zu erwarten" in the peace question: "Ebert in seiner langsamen Art gesteht zu and sagt, er wolle sich das überlegen."
  The results of Ebert's reflection appeared in that David now denounced Helfferich as "der böse Geist der innern Politik; auch in der auswärtigen Politik sehr gefährlich."
  The Social Democrats could not convince the other parties and the inter-party caucus left the question of personalities and parliament​arization open.  They were only a step closer to certainty about one thing:  Michaelis' duplicity or stupidity.


Michaelis revealed his duplicity in the budget committee when he stated that he disagreed with the Peace Resolution.  He even hinted at disunity among the inter-party caucus with the possibility of some other Reichstag majority being found.  The inter-party caucus parties were in a quandary.  Südekum blatantly declared "Er muß weg."
  Payer wanted to avoid a "Kanzlersturz" and appealed for further compromises.  Gothein, among others, thought Michaelis "incapable" of attaining peace.  Ebert straightforwardly admitted the difficulties:

Ich habe dem Mann vor vornherein mit Mißtrauen entgegen​gestanden, deshalb war ich auch sehr vorsichtig.  Wir sind in eine furchtbaren Situation in unserer Fraktion gekommen.  Denn von seiner Erklärung hing die Stellung zu den Krediten ab.  Trotzdem soll man jetzt nicht mit dem Mann abrechnen.  Es steht mir das Interesse des Landes an erster Stelle...

Ebert's patriotism combined with his concern about support from his party conditioned his outlook; he agreed that Payer should again consult with the chancellor.
  


The parliamentarians were torn between their patriotism, party interests and hope for some action on peace and reform.  Michaelis and his advisers exploited their sentiments and their lack of resoluteness on how to proceed.  At the next budget committee session the chancellor spoke with such a forked tongue that no one knew whether he had committed himself to consulting with the parliamentarians, though just previous to the committee meeting Payer had been able to obtain this guarantee from him.  Since Payer had not had time to consult the party leaders, Ebert accused Michaelis of not informing them during July of his disagreement with the Peace Resolution and of trying to break up the inter-party caucus.
  To the SPD caucus Ebert reported that Michaelis "ist nicht abgerückt von Alldeutschen, nicht von Schwerin-Löwitz [conservative head of the Prussian Landtag], nicht von der Heersverwaltung, abgerückt ist er von der Mehrheit!  Deshalb gegen Kanzler scharfstes Mistrauen!"
  Would these insights lead to action and would the bourgeois parties accommodate the SPD's needs or would they side with this devious chancellor?


Michaelis nearly divided the new partners.  Ebert's declaration made Payer feel disavowed because Michaelis had insisted to Payer that he stood by the Resolution and that he had sent invitations to consult with the party leaders on the papal note.  In Payer's view Michaelis had "damit alles getan was wir verlangten..." but "dann kam die Erklarung Eberts.  Der Kanzler fühlt sich verletzt und ich ziehe die Konsequenzen, indem ich dem Vorsitz in dieser Kommission niederlege... [Eberts] Erklarung trug einen feindseligen Charakter..."
  Ebert explained that he wanted clarity and that he had formulated his speech in agreement with the other party leaders.  His defence rightly included:  "Was erklart worden ist, sind wir uns selbst schuldig.  Seine Rede hat uns die aller größten Schwierigkeiten gebracht.  Unsere Erklarung ist sachlich gehalten und stellt nur fest, worauf es uns ankommt."  Scheidemann supported him by counting the instances in which Michaelis had skirted the issues.  Ebert refused to give a public apology:  "Ich bin bereit, alles zu tun... um Herrn Payer Genügtuung zu geben.  Dem Kanzler gegenüber nicht."
  Finally Ebert took a stand showing some leadership vis à vis the bourgeois parties.
  


His forthrightness on the peace issue came coupled with an attempt to obtain a motion to reduce censorship and control over public meetings.  On the latter the bourgeois parties would not support the SPD so the SPD proceeded on its own.  In all these manoeuvres Ebert, Scheidemann and David revealed that they wanted to keep united the block of parties which constituted what they considered a reform and peace-oriented majority in the Reichstag.  To their caucus, on August 24, 1917, Ebert and Scheidemann emphasized that the SPD could not be influential on its own and therefore had "so lange wie möglich die Mehrheitsparteien zusammenhalten", that is, to the strategy of co-operation with the bourgeois parties.


Despite their support for the war effort, Ebert and his colleagues received no aid in internal matters from the partners to whom they clung.  Indeed, whenever Social Democratic leaders asserted themselves, observers thought that the SPD merely attempted to foster its own interests.  The tenure of their remarks indicate to what extent the Social Democrats were still considered by their bourgeois partners, as well as their opponents, to be servants of their politics.  For instance, Haußmann, who himself had close ties to the military leaders through Colonel Haeften, falsely observed in a private letter that the Social Democratic leaders avoided dumping Michaelis because they thought they could obtain more from a weak chancellor than a strong successor with more direct ties to the military.
  Stresemann directly attributed the moderation among the "radikalen Elemente" (among which he included members of the Progressives, Center and SPD) to his National Liberals, claiming that the government felt powerless against the Social Democrats when the latter were supported from some bourgeois quarters.
 Within the military some resented that the demands of the inter-party caucus led to an impression "das Schicksal des deutschen Reiches" was coming "unter dem Zeichen Erzberger-Scheidemann."
 The SPD push for peace and reforms continued to be misinterpreted as self-interested party politics.  


In this situation of growing distrust Michaelis met with the leaders of all the political parties except the USPD on August 25, 1917 to discuss further unrest among the marines and the possibility of action against USPD Reichstag members who allegedly had fostered the unrest.  Capelle reported that he had forbidden over twenty USPD newspapers from being distributed among the marines.  Michaelis appealed for the party leaders' support.  A patriotic Ebert defended the right to disseminate information:


Von unserem Standpunkt aus ist jeder Versuch, die Landesverteidigung zu stören oder zu schwächen, mißbil​ligenswert.  Ich sehe aber noch nicht klar in den Dingen und möchte zur ernstesten Vorsicht raten.  Die Verbrei​tung von der Schriften der USPD ist als solche noch nicht starfbar, wenn auch wir Sozialdemokraten stets die Werbung von Soldaten zu politischen Zwecken verworfen haben.... 

He turned to the SPD's experience:


Ich hörte in den letzten Tagen von einem Vorgehen gegen einen Matrosen, das mich ernst gestimmt hat.  Danach hatte ein Matrose Abonnenten auf den Vorwärts nach Berlin übermittelt.  Dieser Mann und alle Abonnenten auf den Vorwärts haben antreten müssen; der Matrose selbst ist wiederholt verhaftet worden, und der erste Offizier hat sich sehr abfällig über den Vorwärts ausgesprochen.

Scheidemann advocated full publicity about the unrest and took a stand against the proposed death sentences.  By contrast, the conservative leaders generally favored drastic punishments, including death, against the marines.  


Michaelis summarized the results of the meeting:  the parties agreed to press notices emphasizing the leaders of the movement had been caught and now law and order ruled on the ships.  Further, nothing would be undertaken against the USPD Reichstag members who had been in contact with the marines.  To prevent the death sentences Ebert warned against believing "leeres Gerücht," especially the threatened general strike:  "Ich bitte auch darum, die Todesur​teile nicht zu vollstrecken..."
  Michaelis made no promises but repeated the need to treat the USPD differently than the other parties.  



The co-operation by the SPD with the government against unrest and against the USPD helped legitimize the military's attempt to stamp out the marines' discontent and to utilize force against their new 'internal enemy,' the Independents and Spartacists.
  Yet, on censorship and the right to public meetings the SPD leaders repeatedly tried to obtain improvements, for instance, via the budget committee.
   


The endless round of meetings continued no matter how tired the participants had become of negotiations with an unreasonable government.
  The group with which the government agreed to consult on answering the papal note met on August 28, 1917.  It comprised the chancellor, foreign secretary, seven Reichstag members--among them Ebert, Scheidemann and Erzberger--and representatives from the Bundesrat.  The chancellor complemented the participants as:  "Staatsmänner, die wegen ihrer Erfahrung und wegen ihrer Praxis, die uns beschäftigen, zusammen mit dem Reichskanzler die Richtlinien zu beraten, in denen wir zu bewegen haben."
  The new foreign secretary, Kühlmann, asked if the government should limit itself to the papacy's general questions or take up precise issues.  While Scheidemann and others thought a general answer to the papacy should place the "Hauptgewicht...auf die idealistische Seite,"
  the Center and Progressives wanted clarity on Belgium.  Westarp for the conservatives and Stresemann for the National Liberals left no doubt that Belgium should lose territory to Germany and therefore the answer should either avoid any mention of Belgium or assert Flemish unity with Germany.  Erzberger mildly countered that view.  Then Ebert forthrightly claimed:  "Belgium ist Kardinalfrage... ist Liebling der Welt.  Wir kommen nicht zu Verhandlungen ohne Klärung der Frage.  Bisher [sagte die] Regierung, wir wollen nicht annektieren, das genügt nicht.  Es muß gesagt werden, daß wir Belgien nicht vergewältigen wollen."
  He doubted that the Flanders coast had the military significance which Westarp attributed to it. "In der Antwort Belgien erwähnen, klar und unabhängig allerdings mit Wendung, daß Unabhängigkeit nach beiden Seiten.  Bitte an Regierung:  Erwägen, es ist der Angelpunkt, sonst ist Aktion vorbei."  In addition, Ebert wanted a state​ment favoring the freedom of the seas, a view which fit with the economic considerations underlying his national attachment.  In the end the committee agreed to await the government's formulation.  The participants in these and other negotiations must have noticed that Ebert spoke infrequently but then directly and insistently.  One member of the committee reported to a Hamburg lobbyist on the next day:  "sowohl Lerchenfeld wie Sieveking [the representatives from Bavaria and Bremen to the Bundesrat], und auch Helfferich und Kühlmann stimmten darin überein, daß den besten Eindruck eigentlich der Sozialdemokrat Ebert gemacht hatte."


While impressing some of the non-socialist leaders by his committee work, Ebert continued to foster a possible socialist peace conference in Stockholm as a way to move toward peace.  On August 29 and 30, 1917, Ebert and Scheidemann discussed the question with other Central Power socialists in Vienna.
  At the Germans' insistence a letter was formulated for the neutral-country socialists.  It proposed that the guilt question not be discussed at a peace conference ("der Krieg war unser Schicksal, nicht unsere Schuld") and that a final date be set immediately for the conference.
  To his colleague Müller, who was still in Stockholm, Ebert wrote that he thought the newspaper reports on the Entente socialists' stance left "wenig Hoffnung auf Stockholm."
  Though willing to proceed, Ebert had become pessimistic even about the possibility of a separate conference with the Russians.  His enemy-image of the country's opponents gave the following coloring to his thoughts:  "Die Entente​sabotage hat vorläufig das Spiel gewonnen."  He compensated by arguing: "Glücklicherweise haben wir nie zu den Stockholmer Optimisten gehört...Jetzt bleibt uns nichts weiter übrig als die Erklärung, daß wir nach wie vor zur Verständigung bereit sind.  Im übrigen müssen wir aber ie weitere Entwicklung abwarten."
  Ebert's colleague too spoke of "Englands Imperialismus und Seetyrannee."
 


Despite their patriotism and fatalism these Social Democrats wanted a peace conference to end the slaughter.  Ebert, who had frequent contact with Trautmann, and others in the foreign office, obtained a promise that Belgian socialists would have no passport difficulties.
  To an Austrian diplomat in Stockholm, Müller underlined the need for Germany to publicly state its views on Belgium.
  Yet, on that question, wherein Ebert had been so adamant during the first session of the "free" committee, the Social Democrats had let themselves be drawn into accepting an ambiguous formula which did not preclude annexations or reparations.  The SPD leaders' attempts to attain peace constantly befell the same fate as their attempts to gain internal reforms: they drew back from any public action which would make them appear unpatriotic or might upset their co-operation with the Center and Progressives.  They did not exploit the fact that the government and those parties needed them.  Yet, by early September 1917 Ebert and others in the inter-party caucus would become wary and try to force clarity on the Belgian issue by threatening to quit.  Scheidemann eventually argued that his party's cooperation was being undermined by the government's ambivalence.
  They had yet to experience real ambivalence.


The way that the government, its conservative allies such as Stresemann and the bourgeois parties operated on the Belgian question provided reasons for Ebert and Scheidemann to withhold their support.  The meeting of the "free" committee on September 10 demonstrated the problem.  Kühlmann read the government's proposed text which thanked the papacy, asserted Wilhelm II's governments had always favored international arbitration, but addressed no specific issues.  He reiterated that Belgium should not be mentioned because it would cause difficulties with the allied governments, would inevitably raise the issue of Alsace-Lorraine and would emphasize the differences among the war-waging countries.  Scheidemann insisted that Belgium be mentioned because avoidance would be a display of weakness toward the political Right in Germany.  Fehrenbach generally agreed with Kühlmann.  Michaelis typically remarked "Belgien muss klar gestellt werden. Erwähnen? Nein!"
  Stresemann agreed to the vague note, while Payer thought a mention of Belgium might be made but in the context of the government's commitment to the Peace Resolution.  How much the other parties left Social Democracy in the lurch must have been clear in that Erzberger, too, suddenly did not think a public statement on Belgium necessary.  Ebert adamantly demanded inclusion not only of the Peace Resolution, but also the Belgium question to counteract "alldeutschen Treiberein."  Kühlmann followed Michaelis' rather overly-clever example:  "Die belgische Frage ist die Brücke.  Gerade deswegen keine Erwähnung... Das Parlament darf nicht in die Details der Exekutive eingreifen."  Stresemann shrewdly claimed that the majority at the meeting did not want Belgium mentioned, but the public reports should state the Reichstag's participation.  Despite Ebert's disagreement with the "taktischen Erwägungen über Belgien," the chancellor summarized the results as: agreement on the answer, desire for a mention of the Peace Resolution, no mention of Belgium, and the parties had participated.


The Social Democrats thereby shared responsibility for the answer to the papal note though they had no significant influence upon its contents.  Ebert and his colleagues fully misjudged Kühlmann, who believed in Belgium as a "deposit" to be exchanged for other gains.  The Social Democratic leadership of course remained ignorant of the ultimate aims--aims which historians have recovered only after decades of research--of the military leaders, the government and the other parties, and the extent of the pressure which the military and industrial leaders placed upon those who advocated only modest, territorial "adjust​ments."  Kühlmann belonged to the latter group as did Naumann, Fehrenbach and Erzberger.  To illustrate: just before the papal note arrived, the government and the military leaders had again, on August 9, defined their war aims to include control over Belgium and far-reaching territorial additions in the Ukraine and Lithuania plus influence in the Baltic countries.
  A few weeks later, in a letter to the chancellor, the military leaders made their war aims crystal clear.  Hindenburg and Ludendorff wanted to annex much of Belgium which would be economically unified with Germany and occupied for many years.  For vacating the Flemish coast compensation in colonial areas was expected.  Longwy-Briey and the Lothrian iron ore areas were to be taken and in the east Germany needed "Zuwachs an Land."
  


Kühlmann had faced a fait d'accompli when he became foreign secretary so that his work with the parliamentarians amounted to a skilful cover up.
  The Social Democrats' belief in Kühlmann's integrity paralleled their earlier misplaced trust in Bethmann Hollweg.  Other politicians too misled the Social Democrats, in particular Erzberger who met with Ludendorff on September 11, 1917, the day after the papal note had been accepted by the "free" committee.  He agreed with Ludendorff's view that Belgium should never again provide a base for Germany's opponents, and Lithuania and Poland had to become German spheres of influence.
  The Social Democratic leaders, including Ebert, had been pulled into the wake of the German ship of state's ruthless streaming through European borders by their inter-party caucus co-operation and naivety.


If in foreign policy the Social Democratic leaders were led around like a bull with a chain on its nose, in internal affairs they were less susceptible to the same treatment.  They responded assertively to new initiatives by the Right.  During the summer of 1917 the Pan-Germans and annexationists, including many industrialists, began to fear that there might be substance in the government's vague hints at peace and reform.  To counteract any weakness and to thwart the majority parties' Reichstag, on September 2, 1917 they founded the Vaterlandspartei.  This "Sammel​becken" sought to gain a mass basis for a Siegfried, or Hindenburg, Peace through chauvinistic propaganda.  The military permitted campaigning among the troops as well as the populace since this group supposedly operated apolitically.
  The Social Democrats quickly opposed this attempt to find popular support for a block of the political Right to match the block of the political 'middle' in the inter-party caucus.


The Social Democrats presented their complaints in two meetings the inter-party caucus had with the government on September 25, 1917, just before the Reichstag met.  The first session illuminated how far the parliamentarians had misinterpreted the government's vagueness in foreign policy.  The party leaders agreed that in his coming speech the chancellor should not mention Belgium in order to avoid "zweideutigkeiten" [!], but leave the matter at the answer to the papal note.
  Ebert asked for, but did not receive, precise information on the government's eastern policies.  On internal issues the SPD leaders were more insistent and refused to leave questions, like Ebert's previous one, unanswered.  


Ebert and Scheidemann had already met with the chancellor's secretary earlier in the day.  Ebert had emphasized that the unions too wanted the division of the Interior Ministry into political, economic and social departments.  Scheidemann backed him by warning that speeches on parliamentarization and the vice-chancellor's position would be made during the supplementary budget debates.  He declared that a minister without portfolio representing the majority parties "für die sozialdemokratische Partei eine Massnahme weitester politischer Bedeutung sei."
  The Social Democrats wanted Helfferich out of his influential post which he employed to foster a conservative, right-wing block among the political parties.  To obtain a post for the inter-party caucus in the ministry meant seeking a guarantee for the promised peace and reform actions.  In addition, the SPD leaders wanted the government to publicly distance itself from the Vaterlandspartei.  Ebert pointed to the "alldeutsche Umtriebe im Heere."  The materials, he claimed, were so widespread that the SPD would have to take up the matter in the Reichstag which might publicly re-raise the issue of war aims.  After the secretary said the chancellor hoped for a peaceful Reichstag session, Ebert "hebt nochmals hervor, daß mit zweierlei Mass gemessen werde.  Stresemann stösst wild in das Horn der Alldeutschen; der Vorwärts sei wegen des David'schen Artikels [against the annexationists] verwarnt."
  The official assured them that the chancellor had asked the military to keep politics out of the forces.  "Trotzdem Ebert noch einmal erklärte, dass eine grosse, zum mindesten eine innere politische Debatte nicht zu vermeiden sei, nehme ich doch an," so the secretary reported to the chancellor, "dass das möglich ist und dass die Absicht wohl hauptsächlich nur darin besteht, auf Unterbindung einer den Linksparteien nicht erwünschten Progaganda hinzuwirken."  The secretary's misestimated the Social Democratic leaders need to reassure their caucus and members.
  After their co-operation in foreign affairs the SPD bared its teeth in internal matters.  


The leaders obtained SPD caucus approval by the usual method: an optimistic and positive picture of external policy and a critical toughness in internal affairs.  On September 26, 1917 Scheidemann reported on the negotiations to formulate an answer to the papal note.  The caucus raised no questions since the leaders mistakenly assured it "die Regierung in der belgischen Frage materiell genauso denke wie Scheidemann und Ebert."
  Without debate the caucus accepted Ebert's proposals for the budget to include a threefold division within the ministry of the interior and the refusal to approve the vice-chancellor post.  The caucus further agreed to introduce two major questions in the Reichstag, exactly in the way the party leaders had warned the government that they would:  "deren eine sich bezieht auf die politische Agitation der Alldeutschen, vornehmlich im Heere, die andere auf die Beschränkung des Vereinsrechts."
  With the party congress only two weeks away the Social Democrats needed to place greater distance between themselves and the government.


Ebert revealed some of the executive's outlook when he approved a conscripted party member's request to hold "Aufklärungsvorträge": "das Entscheidende dabei ist, daß Ihnen dabei keinerlei Behinderung in der Meinungsaüsserung auferlegt ist.  Die dortige Regelung der 'Aufklärungsunterricht' weich dabei erfreulich ab, von der in anderen Bezirken durchgeführten.  Vielfach hat das ganz im Sinne der Alldeutschen geschehen.  Solche 'Aufklärungsarbeit' muß m. E. aufs Entscheidenste bekämpft werden. Deshalb haben wir den Reichstag ein Interpellation unterbreitet; in der von der Reichsleitung verlangt wird, diesen Treiben ein Halt zu bebieten."


The dissatisfaction with Michaelis, the Vaterlandspartei campaigns and the military's acts under the state of siege mounted during early October 1917.  On October 6 when Michaelis spoke in the budget committee he defended the Pan-Germans, exposing his true position.  On behalf of the inter-party caucus Payer went to the chancellor to check his stance on the Pan-Germans and Vaterlandspartei.  Again Michaelis tried to squirm out of what he had said.  The inter-party caucus on October 8 agreed to ask for a written statement with a clear declaration guaranteeing that all political agitation in the military and every support by officials for the Vater​landspartei would be forbidden.
  In their own caucus the Social Democrats went further and asked for the removal of the war minister, Stein, and the secretary of the Interior, Helfferich. Ebert proposed making approval of the supplementary budget dependent upon these demands.  At the same time he reluctantly agreed to reserve judgement on whether the SPD should join in approving the USPD's non-confidence motion against Michaelis.
  The SPD once more tilted toward opposition, partly pushed there by Michaelis and the USPD.  When they learned the nature of the military's guidelines for "patriotic education" among the troops at a budget meeting on October 9, Ebert concluded that the SPD "auch diese Leitsätze bekämpfen müssen."
  The chancellor's explanations remained insufficient and Ebert admitted he expected nothing better from Michaelis in the next Reichstag session.  


The view proved to be right.  Michaelis publicly ostracized the USPD, and Capelle supported the chancellor's accusations against USPD deputies as the leaders of the marine unrest.  Executions of participants were also defended.  Having run out of patience, Ebert made a scathing, unscheduled attack.  This speech of October 9 set in motion the removal of Michaelis because the speech--reflecting the renewed shift toward opposition by the SPD--demonstrated that Michaelis could not contain one element crucial to the war effort.  Ebert forthrightly stated:

Der Herr Reichskanzler ist sogar soweit gegangen, die weitestgehenden politischen Konsequenzen gegenüber dieser Partei [USPD] zu ziehen.  Wenn die Reichsleitung überhaupt diesen Schritt hier unternehmen wollte, dann hätte sie nach meiner Ansicht zunächst doch einmal die innen und außenpolitische Wirkung eines solchen Vorgehens beurteilen müssen...[und] nur dann erwägen dürfen, wenn absolut einwandfreies und in sich selbst zweifellos schlüssiges Material vorhanden gewesen wäre....Es ist unherhört, ohne die Angeschuldigten vorher zu unterrichten, plötzlich mit so schweren Anklagen vor aller Öffentlichkeit im Parlament hervorzutreten.

To Ebert the documentation thus far proved nothing.  His own party had continuous contact with soldiers, received and checked their complaints, and "Dieses Recht würden wir uns von keiner Seite streitig machen lassen."  On the USPD's political agitation among the troops Ebert remarked:  "In den letzten Tagen haben wir hier festgestellt, daß im Heer und in der Marine vor den Augen ihrer Leiter eine wüste Agitation betrieben wird, die vielfach von militärischen Stellen getragen ist, die sich gegen die Politik der Mehrheit des Reichstags und der überaus großen Mehrheit unseres Volkes richtet.  Wenn nun die Heeresleitung die Politik selbst in das Heer hineinträgt, dann darf sie sich nicht beschweren, wenn andere Parteigruppen ebenfalls im Heere Propaganda treiben... Deshalb scheint uns auch sachlich das ganze Vorgehen durchaus ungerechtfertigt zu sein, und wir müssen es entschieden mißbilligen."  For Ebert the chancellor had added the "crowning touch" by setting "eine Partei außerhalb des Rechts":

Das ist ein Rückfall in die alte Auffassung der Ausnahmegesetzgebung, die wir auf das allerschärfste verurteilen müssen.  Ein solches Vorgehen, eine solche Erklärung konnte nur von einer Regierung erfolgen, die sich--nehmen Sie es mir nicht übel, aber ich will es offen aussprechen--ihrer großen Verantwortung nicht bewußt und ihrer hohen und großen Aufgabe,...in keiner Weise gewachsen ist, und ich spreche es weiter offen aus:  Jeder Tag, der das deutsche Volk früher von dieser Regierung befreit, wird von uns begrüßt werden...

Ebert, as party leader, thus gave the signal to vote with the USPD non-confidence motion against Michaelis.  The other parties which had verbally supported the criticism of Michaelis while not voting against him, at first agreed with the Social Democrats.  In the inter-party caucus on October 10, 1917, Haußmann proposed a delegation of four leaders--Fehrenbach, Ebert, Payer and Rießer--to advise Michaelis to resign.  However the National Liberals refused and the Center followed suit.
  Again Social Democracy found itself unsupported by its partners.  


The struggle for peace combined with parliamentarization and social reform proved to be arduous, and often very lonely, in wartime Germany since the SPD had rejected the USPD version of opposition.  Through the tactic of pulling the bourgeois parties away from the annexationist Right the SPD remained committed to the inter-party caucus.  That commitment reached a testing point as Ebert pushed the deposition of a chancellor.  His speech initiated a crisis on parliametarization.  Thus far had he moved out of Scheidemann's shadow by October 1917.
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